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I. STATEMENT

1. On June 9, 2012, Trial Staff of the Commission (Staff) served Respondent All Star Airport Express, LLC (Respondent) with Civil Penalty Assessment Notice (CPAN) No. 103280 arising out of one alleged violation of Commission Rule 6102(a)(I)
 (failure to require driver to make record of duty status) and one alleged violation of Rule 6105(c) (permitting a driver to drive who has not submitted fingerprints within ten days of being employed to drive).  4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-6, Rules Regulating Motor Vehicles.
2. On June 27, 2012, counsel for Staff entered his appearance.

3. On June 11, 2012, this matter was assigned Docket No. 12G-655EC and on July 11, 2012, it was referred to the undersigned administrative law judge (ALJ) by minute entry of the Commission.

4. Pursuant to Decision No. R12-0951-I, issued on August 14, 2012, an evidentiary hearing was scheduled for September 11, 2012.  

5. The hearing in this matter was convened as scheduled on September 11, 2012.  Staff appeared through counsel and presented the testimony of Investigator Anthony Cummings.
  Respondent appeared through Mr. Merga Kenasa after he demonstrated to the satisfaction of the ALJ that Respondent is a closely-held entity and that Mr. Kenasa is the sole member of the limited liability company.
  The ALJ advised Mr. Kenasa of Respondent’s right to be represented by an attorney at its own expense, as well as his right to present evidence and cross-examine evidence presented by Staff.  Mr. Kenasa stated that he understood these points.  Mr. Kenasa also testified on behalf of Respondent.  Hearing Exhibits No. 1 through No. 5, and Confidential Hearing Exhibit No. 6 were offered and admitted.  Counsel for Staff and Mr. Kenasa offered oral closing statements at the conclusion of the evidence, and the ALJ took the matter under submission.

6. Pursuant to § 40-6-109, C.R.S., the ALJ now transmits to the Commission the record of the hearing and a written recommended decision in this matter.
II. FINDINGS OF FACT  

7. At all times relevant to this proceeding Respondent was a Limited Regulation Carrier in Colorado operating pursuant to Commission Permit No. LL-01881.

8. Respondent and all Limited Regulation Carriers are subject to the Safety Rules of 4 CCR 723-6.  Commission Rule 6100(a)(I).

9. Respondent is a limited liability company (LLC) organized in Colorado.  Mr. Kenasa is the sole member of the LLC.  Mr. Kenasa is also a driver for Respondent.  Respondent employs another driver, but that other driver does not operate any vehicle pursuant to Respondent’s intrastate Commission authority.  Mr. Kenasa is solely responsible for the operations of Respondent, including compliance with Commission Rules.

10. Respondent’s business address is the same as Mr. Kenasa’s residence address.  Mr. Kenasa resides there with his wife and small children.  

11. On January 10, 2011, the Commission’s Transportation Safety and Enforcement Unit performed a Safety and Compliance Review (SCR) at Respondent’s place of business in Denver, Colorado.  That SCR discovered that Respondent’s operations were in violation of numerous Commission Rules.  Staff prepared a Final Report at the conclusion of the SCR identifying each violation.  Hearing Exhibit No. 2.  Mr. Kenasa was provided with a copy of the Final Report which he signed to acknowledge his receipt of it and the fact that he had been provided with an explanation of the violations noted.

12. Among the violations noted in Hearing Exhibit No. 2 was Respondent’s failure to submit to the Commission for a background check the fingerprints of drivers permitted to drive.
  In addition, the SCR found that Respondent had failed to require drivers to prepare a record of duty status.  49 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) § 395.8(a) as incorporated by Commission Rule 6102(a)(I).

13. Not only did Hearing Exhibit 2 provide notice to Respondent of the nature of the violations discovered during the SCR, it provided a written explanation of the corrective action necessary to achieve compliance with the state and federal regulations identified.  

14. With regard to the requirement of submitting fingerprints for drivers, Respondent was directed to “[e]nsure all drivers has [sic] submitted their fingerprints to the PUC for a background check and keep the qualification letter in the drivers qualification file.”  Hearing Exhibit 2 at page 3.

15. Respondent was also directed to ensure it was “maintaining a record of duty status or time sheet/record that reflects all drivers’ activities for each day, including days that the driver is off duty and hours worked elsewhere.  Failure to do so will count against you as no record of duty status for that day.”  Id [emphasis added].

16. Respondent was not issued a civil penalty assessment notice in conjunction with the violations noted in the January, 2011 SCR. However, Respondent was specifically advised to “take remedial action to correct all deficiencies.”  Id.  Lastly, Respondent was advised to obtain and become familiar with the Commission’s Safety Rules and the applicable Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations and was provided with a contact at the Commission where Respondent could direct any questions regarding the SCR.  Id at pages 1 and 3.

17. Mr. Kenasa did not alter how Respondent documented driver duty status in response to the January, 2011 SCR.

18. On March 8, 2012, Investigator Cummings observed a vehicle with Colorado Livery plates
 stopped in front of the Sheraton Hotel in downtown Denver.  Mr. Cummings approached the vehicle and spoke to Mr. Kenasa who was the driver.  Mr. Cummings identified himself as an investigator with the Commission and asked Mr. Kenasa to produce his driver’s medical certification and a valid charter order related to his position in front of the Sheraton.

19. In response, Mr. Kenasa refused to present the requested documents and drove away.  Subsequently, Investigator Cummings placed repeated telephone calls to Respondent, but received no cooperation in his attempts to verify Respondent’s compliance.

20. The events of March 8, 2012, and the days following led Investigator Cummings to schedule a further Safety and Compliance Review at Respondent’s business address.  In cooperation with Mr. Kenasa, the SCR took place on May 22, 2012.

Investigator Cummings reviewed the driver file for Mr. Kenasa and concluded that as of May 22, 2012, Respondent still had not submitted fingerprints to the Commission for 

21. Mr. Kenasa’s background check.  Mr. Kenasa testified that following the January, 2011 SCR he had submitted fingerprints to the City and County of Denver required for his commercial access to Denver International Airport (DIA).  Mr. Kenasa mistakenly believed that this action constituted compliance with Rule 6105.

22. Investigator Cummings reviewed a Driver’s Time Record furnished to him by Mr. Kenasa for the month of April, 2012.  Hearing Exhibit No. 3.  That document contained ten entries for nine days in April, but omitted entries for all other days.
  Mr. Cummings concluded that Respondent had not properly accounted for Mr. Kenasa’s duty status on each of the omitted dates.

23. At the conclusion of the May, 2012 SCR, Mr. Cummings met with Mr. Kenasa and explained his findings related to Respondent’s failure to submit fingerprint cards for a background check and failure to properly document Mr. Kenasa’s duty status.  Mr. Cummings also prepared a Follow Up Report
 setting forth his findings of violations and including the same detailed instructions for compliance by Respondent as were stated in Hearing Exhibit No. 1.

24. On May 28, 2012, Respondent submitted Mr. Kenasa’s fingerprints to the Commission to facilitate his driver’s background check.

25. On June 8, 2012, Investigator Cummings prepared CPAN No. 103280.  As noted above, the CPAN identified one violation of 49 CFR § 395.8(a) as incorporated by the Commission’s Rules and one violation of Rule 6105(c).  Mr. Cummings testified that he could have cited Respondent for 22 violations of 49 CFR § 395.8(a) for each day that Mr. Kenasa’s duty status was omitted from Hearing Exhibit No. 3.  However, in consultation with his supervisor and mindful of Respondent’s status as a small carrier, Mr. Cummings determined that citing Respondent for one violation of 49 CFR § 395.8(a) was sufficient to punish Respondent and prompt compliance with the requirement of recording duty status in the future.

26. CPAN No. 103280 sought a total assessment of $852.50 for the two violations which represents the maximum civil penalty authorized by statute and Commission rules ($775.00) augmented by a 10 percent additional surcharge also required to be assessed pursuant to statute.

27. Investigator Cummings served Respondent with CPAN No. 103280 by Certified Mail with Return Receipt Requested.  Delivery at Respondent’s address was confirmed by the U.S. Postal Service (USPS) on June 9, 2012.  The receipt returned to Mr. Cummings by the USPS contains a signature which neither Mr. Cummings nor Mr. Kenasa could identify.  Hearing Exhibit No. 5.

28. Mr. Kenasa testified that he did not receive the CPAN until more than two weeks after June 9, 2012.  He also disputed that the signature on Hearing Exhibit No. 5 is that of himself or his wife.  On cross-examination, Mr. Kenasa conceded that he found the CPAN among other mail in his home office some time after June 9, 2012.  On balance, the ALJ finds that the weight of the evidence supports a finding that the CPAN was actually delivered to Respondent on June 9, 2012.

29. Pursuant to 4 CCR 723-6-6017(m) and as described in the CPAN, Respondent was permitted to pay 50 percent of the civil penalty within 10 days of being served with the CPAN and have that reduced payment be accepted as “payment in full.”  As of the date of this Recommended Decision, Commission records do not indicate that Respondent has paid the reduced amount.
III. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS
30. As the proponent of a Commission order in this Docket, Staff has the burden of proof pursuant to 4 CCR 723-1-1500 of the Rules of Practice and Procedure. In order to prevail, Staff must establish the elements of each violation by a preponderance of the evidence.

31. As a Limited Regulation Carrier, Respondent is subject to the Commission’s Safety Rules and, by incorporation, selected Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations.  4 CCR 723-6-6100(a)(I), 4 CCR 723-6102(a)(I), and 4 CCR 723-6-6103.

32. Carrier compliance with the Commission’s Safety Rules is an important part of ensuring that the public, including a carrier’s employees, are safe when making use of a carrier’s Commission-authorized service.  The proper documentation of driver duty status is an important source of information for Commission confirmation that carriers comply with the rules limiting the number of hours that may be worked by drivers of passenger-carrying vehicles.  The requirement that drivers submit fingerprint records enables the Commission to perform background checks to verify whether driver-applicants have criminal convictions that suggest that the driver is not of good moral character.

A. Service of the CPAN

33. Pursuant to § 40-7-116(1)(b), C.R.S., investigative personnel of the Commission have the authority to cite carriers for violations for which notice must be given in the form of a CPAN.  Regarding service, “[t]he notice shall be tendered by the enforcement official, either in person or by certified mail…”

34. In this case, Investigator Cummings used certified mail sent to the address on file with the Commission for Respondent.  The USPS confirmed delivery on June 9, 2012 and returned the receipt to Mr. Cummings.  That receipt contains a signature for delivery at Respondent’s address.

35. The signature on the receipt is illegible and neither Mr. Cummings nor Mr. Kenasa could identify the person who acknowledged delivery of the CPAN.  This fact, and the discrepancy between the green postcard and the “scanned image” provided by the USPS on June 11, 2012, is not material to the issue of service, however.  Staff has no control over who has access to Respondent’s address and who may have signed for the CPAN delivery.

36. Mr. Kenasa found the CPAN some two weeks later.  He did not testify that the notice was delivered by the mail carrier on the date that he first saw it.  Rather, he found it in a stack of other mail previously delivered.  From these facts, it is not possible to conclude that the CPAN was delivered to Respondent’s address on some date other than June 9, 2012.

37. The ALJ finds and concludes that the CPAN was properly served.

B. Alleged Violation of 49 CFR § 395.8(a)

38. Rule 49 CFR § 395.8(a) requires that “[e]xcept for a private motor carrier of passengers (nonbusiness), every motor carrier shall require every driver used by the motor carrier to record his/her duty status for each 24 hour period” using the method prescribed.  This Federal regulation is incorporated by Commission Rule 6102(a)(I) and is applicable to Respondent.

39. Following the January, 2011 SCR, Respondent was advised that its manner of recording driver duty status was not in compliance with this requirement.  
Respondent was specifically directed to account for each driver’s activities, including days when the driver was off duty.  The federal regulation is also clear that the driver’s status must be documented for “each 24 hour period.”

40. Although Mr. Kenasa acknowledged receiving notice of the violation and the clarifying instruction on what is necessary for compliance, he testified that he did not change his method of record-keeping as a result. 

41. During the month of April, 2012, Respondent only accounted for Mr. Kenasa’s duty status on 9 days out of 30.  While technically Staff could have alleged 20 or more additional violations of 49 CFR § 395.8(a) it did not do so out of consideration of the size of Respondent’s operation and the devastating financial impact that would be wrought by penalties in excess of $10,000.00.
42. Had Mr. Kenasa made some effort to correct the documentation problem identified in January, 2011, then some further mitigation of the civil penalty imposed by the CPAN might be appropriate.  Notwithstanding the fact that Respondent’s intrastate transportation service is essentially a one-man operation, however, no effort was made to remediate the deficiency.  Accordingly, the ALJ concludes that a mere warning of potential violation was and is insufficient to correct Respondent’s noncompliance.
43. Based on the foregoing, the ALJ finds and concludes it is appropriate to impose the full penalty of $500.00, plus the 10 percent surcharge mandated by statute, for a total assessment of $550.00 for this violation.

C. Alleged Violation of Rule 6105(c)

44. Pursuant to Rule 6105(c), “[w]ithin ten days of contracting or being employed to drive for a passenger carrier, a driver shall submit to the Commission a set of the driver’s fingerprints and payment of the actual cost to conduct a record check.”

45. The record clearly establishes that Mr. Kenasa has driven for Respondent since before January, 2011.  Prior to May 28, 2012, neither Respondent nor Mr. Kenasa individually submitted Mr. Kenasa’s fingerprints and the required fee for a background check.

46. In January, 2011, Mr. Kenasa received formal written notice of this violation and a specific instruction to remedy the violation by filing his fingerprints with “the PUC.”  Mr. Kenasa signed Hearing Exhibit No. 1 to acknowledge his receipt and understanding of these advisements.

47. Mr. Kenasa submitted fingerprints to the City and County of Denver in order to operate his business at DIA.  At hearing, he claimed that he believed that this constituted compliance with the Commission’s Rules.

48. Mr. Kenasa as the person responsible for Respondent’s operations is obligated to know and to follow Commission Rules regulating the business.  Rule 6105(c) requires that fingerprints be submitted to “the Commission.”  The Rule does not mention any other entity, such as the City and County of Denver, and does not state that submission to another governmental agency constitutes compliance with the Commission’s Rule.

49. In addition, Hearing Exhibit No. 1 instructed Mr. Kenasa to submit fingerprints to “the PUC” and provided him with contact information in the Transportation Safety and Enforcement Unit if he had any questions.

50. The ALJ finds and concludes that Respondent was duly advised of the requirements of Rule 6105(c) and that Staff established the elements of a violation as alleged in the CPAN.  In fact, Respondent was in violation of Rule 6105(c) every day that Mr. Kenasa drove beyond the 10-day grace period without having submitted a fingerprint card.  Given that Mr. Kenasa has driven for Respondent for well over a year, many more violations of this Rule may have been alleged than just one. 

51. Respondent has now submitted a fingerprint card to the Commission for Mr. Kenasa and urges mitigation of the civil penalty based on Mr. Kenasa’s misunderstanding prior to the May, 2012 SCR.  

52. The ALJ finds that Mr. Kenasa’s misunderstanding was not reasonable given the language of Rule 6105(c) and the express instruction contained in Hearing Exhibit No. 1.  Accordingly, the full penalty of $275.00 will be assessed, plus the 10 percent surcharge mandated by statute, for a total assessment of $302.50 for this violation.

53. Pursuant to § 40-6-109(2), C.R.S., the ALJ recommends that the Commission enter the following order.
IV. ORDER

A. The Commission Orders That:  

1. As alleged in Civil Penalty Assessment Notice No. 103280, Respondent All Star Airport Express, LLC, committed one violation of 49 Code of Federal Regulations § 395.8(a), as incorporated by 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-6102(a)(I), and one violation of 4 CCR 6105(c) on April 1, 2012.  

2. Respondent All Star Airport Express, LLC, is ordered to pay to the Commission within 30 days of date that this Recommended Decision becomes the decision of the Commission, the sum of $852.50.  This amount represents the total of the civil penalty assessed for the violations found in Ordering Paragraph No. 1 plus the mandatory surcharge imposed by § 24-34-108, C.R.S.

3. Docket No. 12G-655EC is now closed.

4. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

5. As provided by § 40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  

If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the recommended decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of § 40-6-114, C.R.S.  

If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in § 40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.  
6. If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.
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Doug Dean, 
Director
	THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF COLORADO


KEITH J. KIRCHUBEL
________________________________
                     Administrative Law Judge



�  Incorporating 49 Code of Federal Regulations § 395.8(a).


�  Mr. Cummings is a Criminal Investigator employed in the Commission’s Transportation Safety and Enforcement Unit.


�  As the total civil penalty sought in this Docket amounts to $852.50, the ALJ concluded that Mr. Kenesa could represent Respondent as a non-attorney pursuant to § 13-1-127(2), C.R.S.  Mr. Kenasa had spoken to an attorney after having been served with the CPAN but determined that he could not afford an attorney’s services in this Docket.


�  This requirement, formerly codified as Rule 6015(g)(I), is now found in Rule 6105(c).  


�  The vehicle, a Chevrolet Tahoe with plate No. 101 XBT, is owned and operated by Respondent.


�  Mr. Kenasa testified that he showed Mr. Cummings a different Driver’s Time Record at the SCR.  The document Mr. Kenasa described was different in that it had a title on the top and his signature on the bottom.  As Mr. Kenasa testified that the entries on this other document pertaining to duty status during April, 2012, were identical to Hearing Exhibit No. 3, the ALJ admitted Hearing Exhibit No. 3 over the objection of Mr. Kenasa.


�  Hearing Exhibit No. 2.


� A confirmation provided by the USPS on June 11, 2012, purports to contain a scanned image of the recipient information for the Certified Mail tracking number associated with service of the CPAN.  However, the image on page 1 of Hearing Exhibit 5 is distinct from the signature on the green postcard actually signed and returned to Mr. Cummings by the USPS.  While the ALJ cannot reconcile the difference between the two documents, the authenticity of the green confirmation postcard was sufficiently established to render it admissible and probative of service on Respondent.
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